IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

Docket No. 23-620

**SCA EFiled: Jan 26 2024
03:46PM EST
Transaction ID 71887671**

**STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA,
Plaintiff Below, Respondent**

vs.) No. 23-620

**THOMAS M. VALENTINE,
Defendant Below, Petitioner**

**FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF MARION COUNTY, WEST VIRGINIA
CASE NOS. 22-F-274 and 23-F-82
HON. DAVID R. JANES**

PETITIONER'S APPEAL BRIEF

Christopher M. Wilson
W.Va. Bar No. 8204
Law Office of Christopher M. Wilson, PLLC
300 Adams Street
Fairmont, WV 26554
(304) 333-1500
Counsel for Petitioner

I. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- I. The Circuit Court Erred in Denying the Defendant's Rule 29 Motion for Judgment of Acquittal following the close of the State's case-in-chief.**

- II. The Circuit Court Abused its Discretion by Imposing a Life Sentence Under the Recidivist Statute as it Violates the Proportionality Principle of the West Virginia Constitution.**

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On February 10, 2022, Brandon Clyde, a deputy with the Marion County Sheriff's Department, observed a vehicle traveling on the High-Level Bridge in Fairmont, Marion County, West Virginia, with a brake light that was not operational. The officer got behind the vehicle and ran the license plate. The plate was returned as being a Chevrolet Tracker but was displayed on a Jeep Commander. A.R., Vol. 4, Pg. 110, Ln. 17 – Pg. 111, Ln. 3. The officer conducted a traffic stop on the vehicle and made contact with the driver and Petitioner herein, Thomas Valentine. The Petitioner advised that the vehicle belonged to his cousin and that he did not have an operator's license. A female passenger was also identified as Crystal Haggerty and a search was done on both names. A.R., Vol. 4, Pg. 112, Lns. 6-20. Permission to search the vehicle was requested but denied by the Petitioner. A.R., Vol. 4, Pg. 113, Lns. 21-24.

The officer deployed his K9 and performed an open-air sniff of the vehicle which resulted in a positive indication on the passenger side door, where Ms. Haggerty was seated. A.R., Vol. 4, Pg. 115, Ln. 5 – Pg. 117, Ln. 4. Upon searching the vehicle, Deputy Russell Garrett located a .45 caliber handgun in the center console of the vehicle (A.R., Vol. 4, Pg. 61, Lns. 15-23), a zippered pouch in the glove compartment of the passenger side of the vehicle containing drug paraphernalia, small plastic bags, and a set of scales. A.R., Vol. 4, Pg. 65, Ln. 2 - Pg. 69, Ln. 21.

Deputy Garrett then continued his search in the rear passenger compartment and located a black backpack. Inside of the backpack the Deputy located seven baggies with different substances in it. Five of the bags contained various quantities of methamphetamine, one bag contained cocaine, and another bag contained a substance initially believed to be heroin. A.R., Vol. 4, Pg. 70, Lns. 7-18. Deputy Garrett then testified that the backpack contained a piece of mail addressed

to Thomas Valentine but neither Deputy Garrett nor any of the other deputies saw fit to either photograph or secure the piece of mail as evidence. A.R., Vol. 4, Pg. 70, Ln. 19 – Pg. 71, Ln. 4. See also A.R., Vol. 4, Pg. 82, Ln. 11 – Pg. 85, Ln. 10. In fact, neither the black backpack nor the piece of mail with Thomas Valentine's name on it is even mentioned in the official narrative report of the investigation. A.R., Vol. 4, Pg. 85, Ln. 11 – Pg. 86, Ln. 5. Lastly, neither the search of the vehicle nor the alleged statement of the Defendant regarding the firearm were recorded. There was no bodycam footage and no audio recordings made of the Defendant. A.R., Vol. 4, Pg. 86, Ln. 6 – Pg. 87, Ln. 13.

Deputy Clyde's testimony later confirmed the earlier testimony of Deputy Garrett in that there was no mention of a black backpack or any personal items inside of it in the official narrative report. A.R., Vol. 4, Pg. 137, Lns. 2-23. Deputy Clyde also confirmed that there was no video or audio recording of the search, the vehicle or the interaction with Thomas Valentine- and also that no drugs or drug paraphernalia were located on Mr. Valentine's person. A.R., Pg. 137, Ln. 24 – Pg. 139, Ln. 3.

With regard to the firearm, it was stipulated prior to trial that the Defendant was a prohibited person. At trial, the owner of the vehicle, State's witness Lakeisha Watkins, testified that, at the time that she permitted Mr. Valentine to use her car, the vehicle contained some of her personal possessions. Ms. Watkins recalled that there was some electronic equipment (speakers, scanner, etc.) as well as her ex-boyfriend's handgun. Ms. Watkins testified that she had forgotten that the firearm was in the vehicle until it became an issue after the traffic stop on February 10, 2022. A.R., Vol. 4, Pg. 103, Ln. 1 – Pg. 104, Ln. 5.

The Defendant was arrested and charged with multiple offenses which were later the subject of an indictment by the October 2022 Grand Jury for Marion County. A.R., Vol. 1, Pgs.

007 – 011. The indictment included the following: Count I, Conspiracy to Manufacture, Deliver or Possess with Intent to Manufacture or Deliver not less than Five Grams but fewer than Fifty Grams of Methamphetamine; Count II, Possession with Intent to Deliver a Controlled Substance (Methamphetamine); Count III, Conspiracy to Commit a Felony Controlled Substance Offense; Count IV, Possession with Intent to Deliver a Controlled Substance (Cocaine); Count V, Possession with Intent to Deliver a Controlled Substance (Heroin); Count VI, Use or Presentment of a Firearm in the Commission of a Felony; Count VII, Carrying a Concealed Firearm by Prohibited Person; and Count VIII, Possession of a Firearm by a Prohibited Person. Counts I and V were later amended upon Motion of the State- without objection from the Defendant. A.R., Vol. 1, Pgs. 024-025 and Pgs. 028-029. Count IV was dismissed by the State following its case-in-chief. A.R., Vol. 4, Pg. 153, Lns. 1-7.

The jury trial at which the foregoing testimony was elicited was held on March 29, 2023, and March 30, 2023, after which the Petitioner was convicted of Counts I, II, III, V, VII, and VIII. See Trial Order at A.R., Vol. 1, Pgs. 030 – 034. The State of West Virginia then filed a Recidivist Information on or about April 17, 2023, alleging that the Petitioner had previously been convicted on or about the 8th day of August, 2019, in the Circuit Court of Marion County, West Virginia, in Case No. 19-F-180 of the felony offense of Fleeing in a Vehicle with Reckless Disregard for the Safety of Others and on or about the 6th day of February, 2019, in the Circuit Court of Marion County, West Virginia, in Case No. 18-F-8 of the felony offense of Strangulation. A.R., Vol. 2, Pgs. 005 -007.

A jury trial was held on the Recidivist Information on August 18, 2023, and the Petitioner was convicted in connection therewith. See Trial Order, A.R., Vol. 2, Pgs. 013 - 015 On September 21, 2023, the Petitioner was sentenced as follows: In Case No. 22-F-274, a definite term of five

(5) years for Count I; not less than one (1) year nor more than fifteen (15) years for Count II; a definite term of five (5) years for Count III; not less than one (1) year nor more than fifteen (15) years for Count V; a definite term of five (5) years for Count VII; and for Count VII (for which the Recidivist Information was filed in Case No. 23-F-82) life with eligibility for parole after fifteen (15) years. Counts I, II, III and V were ordered to run concurrently. Counts VII and VIII were also ordered to run concurrently but consecutive to Counts I, II, III and V. A.R., Vol. 2, Pgs. 016 – 020.

It is from that Order that the Petitioner now appeals.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

I. The Circuit Court abused its discretion in denying the Defendant's Motion for Judgment of Acquittal or, Alternatively, Motion for New Trial. The State of West Virginia failed to present evidence at trial which established the prima facie elements of the crimes with which the Defendant was charged in this matter. More specifically, with regard to Counts I, II, III, and V, the State failed to establish that the Petitioner conspired with another individual, nor possessed any of the substances found in the subject vehicle with the intent to deliver the same. With regard to Counts VII and VIII, the State failed to establish that the Petitioner was knowingly in possession of a firearm at the time of the traffic stop at issue in this matter.

II. The Petitioner challenges his life sentence under the recidivist statute as being disproportionate to the qualifying offenses alleged in the Information. The Information alleges that the Petitioner was previously convicted of Fleeing in a Vehicle with Reckless Disregard for the Safety of Others and Strangulation. The Petitioner alleges that the Circuit Court erred by imposing a sentence that violated the proportionality principle set forth in Article III, Section 5 of the West Virginia Constitution.

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

Pursuant to West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure 18(a)(4), the Petitioner submits that the facts and legal arguments are adequately presented in the briefs and record on appeal, and the decisional process would not be significantly aided by oral argument.

ARGUMENT

I. The Circuit Court Erred in Denying the Defendant's Rule 29 Motion for Judgment of Acquittal following the close of the State's case-in-chief.

For those attorneys who have had the honor of practicing in Division II of the Circuit Court of Marion County, we are accustomed to the manner in which Rule 29 motions are handled at the close of the State's case-in-chief. The jury is generally excused to the jury room and the Court announces that, with regard to any defense motions upon the close of the State's evidence, the Court finds that the prima facie elements for the offenses contained in the Indictment have been met, and that any such motion is denied. The Court notes the objection and exception by the defense and states that either counsel may place further objections on the record with the Court Reporter while the trial stands in recess.

In this particular instance, the Court was understandably concerned about the need to have the matter to the jury the next morning due to some pre-existing obligations of some jurors the following afternoon. A.R., Vol. 4, Pg. 153, Ln. 18 – Pg. 154, Ln. 6. In the rush to get through the charge before the end of the day, neither the Court nor counsel realized that the Court had not made its usual findings with regard to Rule 29 motions. It wasn't until the transcript had been prepared during the appeal process that undersigned counsel realized the omission. The only mention of those motions occurred as follows: "Count IV is dismissed. The state rests. Reserve a spot on the record for any appropriate motions at this time, which we'll discuss out of the hearing of the jury." A.R., Vol. 4, Pg. 153, Lns. 7-9.

Upon returning from a short break, the Court went directly into the jury charge. Upon finishing the charge, the Court adjourned for the day and closing arguments were presented the following morning. Subsequent to the deliberations of the jury, the Defendant was convicted of convicted of Counts I, II, III, V, VII, and VIII. A.R., Vol. 4, Pg. 225, Ln. 23 – Pg. 227, Ln. 21.

"A motion for judgment of acquittal challenges the sufficiency of the evidence." *State v. Houston*, 197 W.Va. 215, 229, 475 S.E.2d 307, 321 (1996) (citing Franklin D. Cleckley, 2 Handbook on West Virginia Criminal Procedure 292 (2d ed. 1993)). Once the trial Court has ruled upon any such motion brought under Rule 29, this Court has previously held that "[t]he Court applies a de novo standard of review to the denial of a motion for judgment of acquittal based upon the sufficiency of the evidence." *State v. Juntilla*, 227 W.Va. 492, 497, 711 S.E.2d 562, 567 (2011) (citing *State v. LaRock*, 196 W.Va. 294, 304, 470 S.E.2d 613, 623 (1996)).

More specifically, this Court has set forth the test governing a claim of insufficient evidence on appeal as follows, in Syllabus Points 1 and 3 of *State v. Guthrie*, 461 S.E.2d 163, 194 W.Va. 657 (1995):

1. The function of an appellate court when reviewing the sufficiency of the evidence to support a criminal conviction is to examine the evidence admitted at trial to determine whether such evidence, if believed, is sufficient to convince a reasonable person of the defendant's guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. Thus, the relevant inquiry is whether after viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the prosecuting, any rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the crime proved beyond a reasonable doubt.

3. A criminal defendant challenging the sufficiency of evidence to support a conviction takes on a heavy burden. An appellate court must review all the evidence, whether direct or circumstantial, in the light most favorable to the prosecution and must credit all inferences and credibility assessments that the jury might have drawn in favor of the prosecution. The evidence need not be inconsistent with every conclusion save that of guilt so long as the jury can find guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. Credibility determinations are for a jury and not an appellate court. Finally, a

jury verdict should be set aside only when the record contains no evidence, regardless of how it is weighed, from which the jury could find guilt beyond a reasonable doubt.

In Case No. 22-F-274, the Indictment alleged the following offenses as to the Petitioner: Count I, Conspiracy to Manufacture, Deliver or Possess with Intent to Manufacture or Deliver not less than Five Grams but fewer than Fifty Grams of Methamphetamine; Count II, Possession with Intent to Deliver a Controlled Substance (Methamphetamine); Count III, Conspiracy to Commit a Felony Controlled Substance Offense; Count IV, Possession with Intent to Deliver a Controlled Substance (Cocaine); Count V, Possession with Intent to Deliver a Controlled Substance (Heroin); Count VI, Use or Presentment of a Firearm in the Commission of a Felony; Count VII, Carrying a Concealed Firearm by Prohibited Person; and Count VIII, Possession of a Firearm by a Prohibited Person.

In the instant case, the Petitioner, driving a borrowed vehicle, had a passenger, identified as Crystal Haggerty, who was inside of the vehicle at the time of the traffic stop. There was no evidence presented as to the relationship between the Petitioner and Ms. Haggerty. When the K9 hit on the vehicle during the “free air sniff”, it did so on the passenger side where Ms. Haggerty and her belongings were situated. After finding the illegal substances in the vehicle, both the Petitioner and Ms. Haggerty were charged with three (3) counts of Possession with Intent to Deliver a Controlled Substance¹. There was no testimony at trial from the investigating officers that established how the drugs first entered the car, which occupant had control of them, nor anything that would show that either occupant had the intent to distribute the drugs to any other

¹ Ms. Haggerty was subsequently released on bond, failed to show for further proceedings, and to this day, has an outstanding capias for her arrest.

individual. What was established, however, is that the drugs were located in or near the passenger compartment and that Thomas Valentine did not have any drugs or drug paraphernalia on his person. It was also established that the investigation yielded no electronic messages or cell data which would indicate a conspiracy between the Defendant and Ms. Haggerty, nor the participation or intent to participate, of Thomas Valentine in the delivery of any illegal substance.

With regard to the possession of illegal substances, the evidence adduced by the State at trial failed to support the conviction for those charges. This Court has previously held that:

In West Virginia mere physical presence on premises in which a controlled substance is found does not give rise to a presumption of possession of a controlled substance, but is evidence to be considered along with other evidence demonstrating conscious dominion over the controlled substance.

The offense of possession of a controlled substance also includes constructive possession, but the State must prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant had knowledge of the controlled substance and that it was subject to defendant 's dominion and control.

State v. Dudick, 158 W.Va. at 630, 213 S.E.2d at 460, Syl. Pts. 3 and 4; *State v. Plante*, No. 19-0109 (W. Va. Nov 19, 2020).

Analyzing the evidence adduced at trial with that guidance in mind, one can only reach the conclusion that the totality of the evidence was insufficient to sustain a conviction on any charge of conspiracy or intent to deliver on the part of Thomas Valentine.

With regard to the firearm, testimony was elicited from witness Lakeisha Watkins, the owner of the vehicle which was being driven by the Petitioner at the time of the traffic stop. Ms. Watkins testified that Mr. Valentine had been using her vehicle with her permission and that the

firearm found in the console of the vehicle belonged to a former boyfriend of hers. She testified that she did not inform the Petitioner that there was a firearm in the vehicle because she had forgotten about it until he was arrested.

Just as with the issue of conspiracy to deliver or intent to deliver illegal substances, the evidence adduced at trial is wholly inadequate to warrant a conviction for the firearm charges. The Petitioner was acquitted by the jury of Use or Presentment of a Firearm During the Commission of a Felony, yet found guilty of Possession of a Firearm by a Prohibited Person and Carrying a Concealed Firearm by a Prohibited Person.

Assuming *arguendo* that the State was proceeding on a constructive possession argument for the firearm- just as it did with the illegal substances, it would have been required to prove that the Defendant had knowledge of the firearm and that the firearm was within his dominion and control. The only mention of the Defendant's knowledge of the firearm came in the testimony of Deputy Garrett when he testified that he somehow gleaned from his conversation with the Defendant that he had knowledge of the firearm:

Q. You said that you were discussing the firearm with Mr. Valentine and he acknowledge [sic] it being in the vehicle; correct?

A. Yes. Based upon my conversation with him, he knew it was in the vehicle. He denied being the owner of the firearm, but, yeah, he knew it was there.

A.R., Vol. 4, Pg. 86, Lns. 19-24.

This spurious, uncorroborated and apparently presumptuous testimony- that was not recorded in any manner whatsoever- is the only mention that the Defendant had knowledge of the firearm and it should not be enough to convict him of either Count VII or Count VIII of the Indictment.

In sum, the facts as elicited at trial are inconsistent with the guilt of the Petitioner as to each of the Counts of the Indictment. As such, the Circuit Court erred in not addressing or, alternatively, presumptively denying the Rule 29 Motion for Judgment of Acquittal.

II. The Circuit Court Abused its Discretion by Imposing a Life Sentence Under the Recidivist Statute as it Violates the Proportionality Principle of the West Virginia Constitution.

In the instant matter, the Recidivist Information alleged, and the jury found, that the Petitioner had previously been convicted on or about the 8th day of August, 2019, in the Circuit Court of Marion County, West Virginia, in Case No. 19-F-180, of the offense of Fleeing in a Vehicle with Reckless Disregard for the Safety of Others, a felony offense pursuant to the provisions of W.Va. Code 61-5-17(f), punishable by confinement in a state correctional facility. The Information further alleged that the Defendant was previously convicted on or about the 6th day of February, 2019, in the Circuit Court of Marion County, West Virginia, in case No. 18-F-8, of the offense of Strangulation, a felony offense per the provisions of W.Va. Code 61-2-9D, punishable by confinement in a state correctional facility. A.R., Vol. 2, Pgs. 005 – 006.

The Petitioner now alleges that the conviction in 19-F-180 is not a conviction that involves (1) actual violence, (2) a threat of violence, or (3) substantial impact upon the victim such that harm results. For that matter, the Possession of a Firearm by a Prohibited Person and Carrying a Concealed Firearm by a Prohibited Person, if examined under a fact-specific inquiry, would fail to meet that standard as well. Admittedly, the offense is now listed as a “qualifying offense” in W.Va. Code § 61-11-18 (amendments effective June 5, 2020). Given the fact that the statute was

not amended until after the conviction in Case No. 19-F-180 occurred, the Petitioner alleges that it is necessary to examine this Court's prior analyses of qualifying and/or triggering offenses.

This Court has previously held that "Article III, Section 5 of the West Virginia Constitution, which contains the cruel and unusual punishment counterpart to the Eighth Amendment of the United States Constitution, has an express statement of the proportionality principle: 'Penalties shall be proportioned to the character and degree of the offence.'" Syl. Pt. 8, *State v. Vance*, 164 W.Va. 216, 262 S.E.2d 423 (1980).

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