IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

Docket No. 23-620

SCA EFiled: Mar 11 2024
11:18AM EDT
Transaction ID 72476852

STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA,

Respondent,

v.

THOMAS M. VALENTINE,

Petitioner.

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

PATRICK MORRISEY
ATTORNEY GENERAL

Grant A. Newman (W.V. Bar 14343)
Assistant Solicitor General
Office of the Attorney General
1900 Kanawha Blvd. E, Bldg 1
Charleston, WV 25305
Telephone: (304) 558-2021
Facsimile: (304) 558-0140
Email: Grant.A.Newman@wvago.gov

Counsel for the State of West Virginia

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

in a vehicle with reckless disregard for others’ safety, and for reckless disregard for the safety of others—satisfy that standard. As a result, the constitutional challenge to his sentence falls.

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

The facts and arguments are adequately presented in the briefs and record. Oral argument is not necessary, and this case can be resolved by memorandum decision. *See* W. Va. R. App. P. 18(a)(3), (4).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“The Court applies a de novo standard of review to the denial of a motion for judgment of acquittal based upon the sufficiency of the evidence.” *State v. Juntilla*, 227 W. Va. 492, 497, 711 S.E.2d 562, 567 (2011). In doing so, the Court “examine[s] the evidence admitted at trial to determine whether such evidence, if believed, is sufficient to convince a reasonable person of the defendant’s guilt beyond a reasonable doubt.” Syl. pt. 1, *Guthrie*, 194 W. Va. 657, 461 S.E.2d 163. “Thus, the relevant inquiry is whether, after viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the prosecution, any rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the crime proved beyond a reasonable doubt.” *Id.*

The Court generally reviews “sentencing orders ... under a deferential abuse of discretion standard.” *State v. Horton*, 248 W. Va. 41, 45, 886 S.E.2d 509, 513 (2023), *cert. denied sub nom. Horton v. W. Virginia*, 143 S. Ct. 2683, 216 L. Ed. 2d 1250 (2023) (cleaned up). That’s because “[i]t is not the proper prerogative of this Court to substitute its judgment for that of the trial court on [such] matters, so long as the appellant’s sentence was within the statutory limits, was not based upon any impermissible factors, and did not violate constitutional principles.” *State v. Georgius*, 225 W. Va. 716, 722, 696 S.E.2d 18, 24 (2010). But where, as here, a petitioner argues that his

sentence invokes “the application of constitutional protections,” the Court’s “review is de novo.” *Horton*, 248 W. Va. at 45, 886 S.E.2d at 513.

ARGUMENT

I. Petitioner’s First Assignment Does Not Justify Reversal.

Petitioner contends that the circuit court “abused its discretion” and “erred in not addressing or, alternatively, presumptively denying the Rule 29 Motion for Judgment of Acquittal,” because insufficient evidence showed that Petitioner “conspired with another individual” and “possessed any of the substances found in the subject vehicle with the intent to deliver the same,” or that he “was knowingly in possession of a firearm at the time of the traffic stop at issue in this matter.” Pet’r’s Br. at 10, 17. But Petitioner never made these arguments (or any others) through a motion for acquittal below, so the Court need not take them up here. And even if the Court considers them, Petitioner cannot satisfy the plain error doctrine.

A. The Court should decline to hear this assignment because Petitioner waived it by failing to move for acquittal below.

Before Petitioner can ask the Court to hear his first assignment of error, he has a hurdle to clear (and it’s a big one): nothing in Petitioner’s brief or appendix shows that his counsel made a Rule 29 motion through voice or paper at *any* point during the proceedings below. The excuses he gives here notwithstanding, that means Petitioner has waived the assignment, and “cannot now complain about” it on appeal. *State v. Whittaker*, 221 W. Va. 117, 132, 650 S.E.2d 216, 231 (2007).

1. Put bluntly, nothing in the record indicates that Petitioner’s counsel even announced his *intent* to file a motion for acquittal, much less actually made such a motion: not at the end of the State’s case, App. Vol. IV, 153:1-3; not after confirming that Petitioner had no evidence to present, *id.* at 153:8-11; not when the circuit court reserved a spot for “any appropriate motions”

to be filed, *id.* at 153:8; not before the court began the jury charge, *id.* at 154:11; not in response to the circuit court’s explicit request for “anything else to address” after the jury charge, *id.* at 175:16-20; not after the State’s closing argument or rebuttal, *id.* at 176:1-212:20, 220:18-19; not after the jury left the courtroom to begin deliberations, *id.* at 223:23-24; neither before nor after the circuit court forecasted that “the defense motion for judgment of acquittal”—that is, if one were to be made—“would be overruled,” *id.* at 223:24-224:13; and not after the jury rendered its verdict, *id.* at 227:22-230:24. This explains why Petitioner never cites in his brief or includes in his appendix any record evidence that his counsel affirmatively made a motion for acquittal below—because he did not.

But this is exactly what the Rules of Appellate Procedure require. Petitioner’s appendix, for example, needed to include all “orders applicable to the assignments of error,” material motions and excerpts “in connection with” them—including all “averments upon which the petitioner relies”—and other necessary parts of the record. W. Va. R. App. P. 7(d)(1), (2), (5), (8). The appendix includes no “Motion for Judgment of Acquittal or, Alternatively, Motion for New Trial.” Pet’r’s Br. 10. Unlike Petitioner’s actual assignment of error, which implies that he made a “Motion for Judgment of Acquittal following the close of the State’s case-in-chief” and that “[t]he Circuit Court Erred in Denying” it, Pet’r’s Br. at 5; *see also id.* at 10 (stating that “[t]he Circuit Court abused its discretion in denying the Defendant’s Motion for Judgment of Acquittal or, Alternatively, Motion for New Trial”), he should have phrased it “in such a fashion as to alert” the Court “to the fact that” “the issue was not presented to the lower tribunal” and thus “plain error is asserted” on appeal. W. Va. R. App. P. 10(c)(3). Unlike Petitioner’s Statement of the Case, which does not mention a motion for acquittal or new trial made below, Petitioner had to include “appropriate and specific references to the appendix or designated record” and “the procedural

history ... that are relevant to the assignments of error.” *Id.* 10(c)(4). And likewise, Petitioner’s Argument section needed (but failed) to include “appropriate and specific citations to the record on appeal, including citations that pinpoint when and how the issues in the assignments of error were presented to the lower tribunal.” *Id.* 10(c)(7). So, similar to the way it has before, the Court should find that “Petitioner has failed to direct this Court’s attention to the portion of the record where he requested (if, indeed, he did) a” judgment of acquittal, and “deem this issue waived” on appeal. *State v. Tilley*, No. 17-0155, 2018 WL 3005946, at *5 (W. Va. Supreme Court, June 15, 2018) (memorandum decision) (citing W. Va. R. App. P. 10(c)(7)),

2. Instead of complying with these Rules, Petitioner deploys vague language and excuses meant to imply both that he made a Rule 29 motion below, and that even if he hadn’t, his counsel’s mistake should be excused. *See, e.g.*, Pet’r’s Br. 5, 10, 12. He does this by describing a special “manner in which Rule 29 motions are handled at the close of the State’s case-in-chief” during criminal trials in Marion County. *See* Pet’r’s Br. 12 (explaining the process). Petitioner says the circuit court employed this process here but in a rushed manner in order to account for “some pre-existing obligations of some jurors” that were coming the following day. *Id.* It was “[i]n th[is] rush to get through the charge before the end of the [current] day,” says Petitioner, that “neither the [circuit court] nor counsel realized that the [circuit court] had not made its usual findings with regard to Rule 29 motions. *Id.* And “[i]t wasn’t until the transcript had been prepared during the appeal process that [Petitioner’s] counsel realized the omission.” *Id.* Several glaring problems, though, show with Petitioner’s description here.

First, Petitioner states that the court’s “only” mention of “its usual findings with regard to Rule 29 motions” or “th[e] motions” themselves was immediately after the State rested, *see id.* at 12 (citing App. Vol. IV, 153:7-9). But this statement is both wrong and incomplete. In fact, the

court provided *three more* chances for Petitioner’s counsel to address the matter of acquittal: once after the jury had left the courtroom that day, *see App. Vol. IV*, 175:16-20 (asking the attorneys if they had “anything else to address on the record at this time”); again after the jury left to start deliberations, *see id.* at 223:24-224:13 (forecasting that “the defense motion for acquittal would be overruled” and asking both attorneys again if they had “[a]nything else to address at this time”); and a third time after the jury announced its verdict, *see id.* 227:22-230:24 (similar). In reality, Petitioner never says when (much less how) he filed a Rule 29 motion to which the court supposedly gave a rushed decision—and it certainly was not “at the close of the State’s case-in-chief,” as he suggests with the wording of his assignment of error and accompanying argument. Pet’r’s Br. 5, 12. This failure is fatal to his assignment on appeal. W. Va. R. App. P. 10(c)(7) (requiring “specific [record] citations ... that pinpoint when and how the issues in the assignments of error were presented to the lower tribunal”).

Second, Petitioner cannot shift the focus away from his waiver and to the circuit court by citing the special “manner in which Rule 29 motions are handled at the closes of the State’s case-in-chief” during criminal trials in Marion County. Pet’r’s Br. at 12. This is not the first time this Court has seen this sort of recitation from a Marion County circuit court judge. In *State v. Uphold*, “[a]t the close of the State’s case, the circuit court, outside the presence of the jury, informed the parties that ... was the time the defense typically makes a motion for judgment of acquittal.” No. 20-0983, 2022 WL 855687, at *2 (W. Va. Supreme Court, Mar. 23, 2022) (memorandum decision). The Court then quoted the trial judge’s recitation at length, including the statement that the judge was “of the opinion that the [S]tate has presented ... a prima facie case of evidence as to each of the elements of each count of the indictment” and “any motions by the defense for directed verdict or judgment of acquittal will be overruled.” *Id.* But what happened next is critical: “after

the jury began deliberating, petitioner *argued to the circuit court* that he was *entitled to a judgment of acquittal*” on one of the charges because the State failed to meet its evidentiary burden, and “[t]he circuit court denied petitioner’s motion.” *Id.* (emphasis added). Then, after “the jury found petitioner ... guilty” of that same count, “Petitioner *renewed* his [Rule 29] motion for *judgment of acquittal* ... and *moved for a new trial* under Rule 33.” *Id.* (emphasis added). “The circuit court held a hearing on” those motions, “the circuit court denied the motion orally during the hearing and by order entered” later on, and this Court affirmed those rulings on appeal. *Id.* at *2, *5.

Here, unlike in *Uphold*, Petitioner never moved and argued for acquittal or a new trial—not at the close of the State’s case, and not after the jury’s verdict—so the circuit court never had reason to hold a hearing on the motion, respond to any specific arguments on the record, or mention those motions in its trial order. *See* App. Vol. I, 030-031 (trial order only mentioning motions from the State to modify two counts in the indictment).

Third, nothing was “rushed” about the proceedings below, much less were any proceedings irregular enough to trigger the Court’s correction on appeal. *See* Pet’r’s Br. 12. After the State rested its case, the circuit court explained its preference to complete the jury charge before the jurors left that day given that a few of them had afternoon schedule conflicts the following day. *See* App. Vol. IV, 153:18-154:7. That’s it. At no point did Petitioner’s counsel indicate to the court he felt that its decision to manage the remaining proceedings in this way deprived him of the chance to file a motion or make arguments. If anything, the opposite was true. Again, the court asked the attorneys three times between the State resting and the trial ending whether they had “anything else to address” on the record “at this time,” and both attorneys answered in the negative all three times. *Id.* at 175:16-20, 223:24-224:13, 227:22-230:24; *cf.* *State v. Colin*, No. 11-1387, 2013 WL 3242762, at *1-2 (W. Va. Supreme Court, June 28, 2013) (holding that it was harmless

error where petitioner argued that “the circuit court’s [alleged] eagerness to finish the trial ... prohibit[ed] petitioner to present a motion for acquittal after the State rested its case”).

3. Finally, this case shows why it was so important for Petitioner to have raised “his ... objection contemporaneously with the trial court’s” recitation forecasting the denial of any acquittal motion filed. *Whittaker*, 221 W. Va. at 131-32, 650 S.E.2d at 230-31. “The pedigree for this rule is of ancient vintage, and it is premised on the notion that calling an error to the trial court’s attention affords an opportunity to correct the problem before irreparable harm occurs.” *Id.* (quoting *State v. LaRock*, 196 W.Va. 294, 316, 470 S.E.2d 613, 635 (1996)). The rule also “prevents a party from making a tactical decision to refrain from objecting and, subsequently, should the case turn sour, assigning error,” specifically, and “serves an important purpose in promoting the balanced and orderly functioning of our adversarial system of justice,” in general. *Id.* Straying outside of these lines means being “forever barred from asserting that that ruling was in error.” *Id.*

Here, Petitioner failed to preserve the issue in his first assignment of error both by failing to make the appropriate motion below and then by failing to “articulate [the error] with such sufficient distinctiveness to alert [the trial] court to the nature of the claimed defect.” *Id.* (quoting *State ex rel. Cooper v. Caperton*, 196 W.Va. 208, 216, 470 S.E.2d 162, 170 (1996)). “The rule in West Virginia is that parties must speak clearly in the [trial] court on pain that, if they forget their lines, they will likely be bound forever to hold their peace.” *Id.* This is “[o]ne of the most familiar procedural rubrics in the administration of justice” there is, and by falling short of it here as to his first assignment of error, Petitioner must face “the imposition of a procedural bar to an appeal of that issue.” *State v. Miller*, 194 W.Va. 3, 17, 459 S.E.2d 114, 128 (1995). The Court thus can and should reject Petitioner’s first assignment as procedurally barred. See *State v. Fleming*, 237 W.

Va. 44, 54, 784 S.E.2d 743, 753 (2016) (“we decline to invoke the plain error rule” given “petitioner[’s] fail[ure]to object regarding the sufficiency of the evidence to support a charge of attempted murder” in the proceedings below); *State v. Henson*, 239 W. Va. 898, 908 n.16, 806 S.E.2d 822, 832 n.16 (2017) (“We also decline to invoke the plain error doctrine regarding this alleged error.”); *State v. Rogers*, 231 W. Va. 205, 216, 744 S.E.2d 315, 326 (2013) (“we decline to invoke the plain error doctrine regarding alleged misstatement of law made by the prosecutor.”).

B. Petitioner cannot show plain error—or any error—to justify reversal on sufficiency-of-the-evidence grounds.

If the Court considers this assignment of error nonetheless, it should reject it because Petitioner cannot show plain error.

1. Although Petitioner “does not ask the Court to notice plain error, the Court can sua sponte apply the plain error doctrine if the record below is sufficient for such analysis,” *State v. Lively*, 226 W. Va. 81, 93, 697 S.E.2d 117, 129 (2010), and if it is “in the interest of justice” to do so, *Miller*, 194 W. Va. at 18, 459 S.E.2d at 129 (discussing option to “notice error to which no objection has been made”). See also *State v. Spence*, 182 W.Va. 472, 481, 388 S.E.2d 498, 507 (1989) (“The plain error rule presupposes that the record is sufficiently developed to discern the error.”). Specifically, “[t]o trigger application of the ‘plain error’ doctrine, there must be (1) an error; (2) that is plain; (3) that affects substantial rights; and (4) seriously affects the fairness, integrity, or public reputation of the judicial proceedings.” Syl. pt. 7, *Miller*, 194 W.Va. 3, 459 S.E.2d 114. “In criminal cases, plain error is error which is so conspicuous that the trial judge and prosecutor were derelict in countenancing it, even absent the defendant’s timely assistance in detecting it.” *David K.*, 238 W. Va. at 43, 792 S.E.2d at 54. In other words, the doctrine “is to be used sparingly,” Syl. pt. 2, *State v. Thompson*, 220 W. Va. 398, 400, 647 S.E.2d 834 (2007), and “only to avoid a miscarriage of justice,” Syl. pt. 7, *LaRock*, 196 W.Va. 294, 470 S.E.2d 613.

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